ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2009-CP-26-10523

Appellate Case No. 2012-213287

Elizabeth A. Crotty and James K. Orzech.....
Appellants,

v.

Windjammer Village of Little River,
Property Owners' Association, a South Carolina
Eleemosynary Corporation.....
Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Elizabeth A. Crotty and James K. Orzech, Ph.D.

Pro Se Appellants

The B00 House
2148 Gamecock Circle
Little River, SC 29566
Tel: (843) 281-2299

Kenneth R. Moss, Esq.
Wright, Worley, Pope, Ekster & Moss, PLLC
628A Sea Mountain Highway
North Myrtle Beach, SC 29582
Tel: (843) 281-9901
Attorney for Respondent

RECEIVED
JAN 13 2014
SC COURT OF APPEALS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Table of Authorities ii

Statement of Issues on Appeal 1

Statement of the Case 2

Facts 16

Arguments 28

1. Contracts made in South Carolina must be interpreted and enforced, according to the true meanings of the words actually in the Contract in the English language, and not by the decrees of Board Members in some Property Owners’ Association.

2. To be enforceable in South Carolina, the terms of a Sales Contract must actually appear in that Contract signed by the buyer, and not just be someone else’s belatedly faint recollection of some informal understanding made with another party four years prior, unbeknownst to the current buyer.

3. To be adequately represented in South Carolina by Counsel, the attorney must at least inform his or her clients that they were walking into a Trial, at which their property rights would be at risk in perpetuity, and not just another routine ‘Merits Hearing’ to make a ‘Temporary Injunction’ permanent.

4. A Court’s FINAL ORDER that: (a) Did not accurately reflect what the Presiding Judge actually said in the Courtroom during the Trial; (b) Failed suddenly and spectacularly just twenty-four days after signing; (c) Required that several of its tenets be clarified and/or modified at a Motions for Reconsideration Hearing; (d) Poses questions and unintended consequences that cannot be answered without the prospect of perpetual litigation, should be overturned?

Conclusion 48

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION

Section 1 of the Fourteenth Amendment 44

(B) STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Propositions

- (1) Contracts made in South Carolina must be interpreted and enforced according to the true meanings of the words actually in the Contract in the English language, and not by the decrees of Board Members in some Property Owners' Association.
- (2) To be enforceable in South Carolina, the terms of a Sales Contract must actually appear in that Contract signed by the buyer, and not just be someone else's belatedly faint recollection of some informal understanding made with another party four years prior, unbeknownst to the current buyer.
- (3) To be adequately represented in South Carolina by Counsel, the attorney must at least inform his or her clients that they were walking into a (non-jury) TRIAL, at which their property rights would be put at risk in perpetuity, and not just another routine MERITS HEARING to make a TEMPORARY INJUNCTION permanent.
- (4) A Court's FINAL ORDER that: (a) Did not accurately reflect what the Presiding Judge actually said in the Courtroom during the TRIAL; (b) Failed suddenly and spectacularly just twenty-four days after signing; (c) Required that several of its tenets be clarified and/or modified at a MOTIONS-FOR-RECONSIDERATION HEARING; and (d) Poses questions and unintended consequences that cannot be addressed without the prospect of perpetual litigation, should be reversed.

(C) STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant Windjammer Village POA Board Actions

At a Board of Directors' Meeting in September 2009 attended by over sixty members, the Windjammer Village Property Owners' Association (Respondent) Board president Rosanne Pazoga reported that the POA's own attorney, Roger Roy, had told members of the Board of Directors that POA members, (Appellants) Elizabeth A. Crotty and James K. Orzech, indeed, could legally *park* anywhere on their property at '2148 Gamecock Circle,' also known as *The B00 House* (after its lot number 'B-zero-zero').

Consequently the Board rescinded a \$100 fine against Ms. Crotty, a disabled veteran, for *parking* in her own front yard. Rather than just letting the *B00-parking* issue, which by then had festered off and on since 2003, be resolved right then and there, the other Board members immediately voted to remove Pazoga as Board president and started openly devising yet another way to deny us (Appellants) our property rights.

At a Special Board Meeting on Oct. 13, 2009, the remaining four Directors voted to send a 'Mail-In Ballot' (R. pp. 58-59) to the POA Membership for the purposes of (1) Removing Pazoga from the Board, outright, and (2) Taking out the *access road*, known as the 'Paved Driveway,' directly in front of our home, expressly to deny us the physical means for our cars to reach those *parking* spots, under the guise of turning the *access road*, along with the adjoining 'Mailbox Island,' into a 'Garden/Park' (R. pp. 53-57).

Temporary Injunction

After the POA's Board denied all of our attempts to rebut the measures and the misrepresentations on the 'Mail-In Ballot' (R. 58-59), either as an enclosure to

accompany the voting material or as a rebuttal statement in the Association's newsletter, each of which would have been sent to all voting members, many of whom live full time in other states, we were forced to retain attorney Richard M. Lovelace, Jr., to file a VERIFIED COMPLAINT (R. pp. 39-59) with the Court of Common Pleas, seeking a TEMPORARY INJUNCTION, protecting our property rights against our POA illegally and vindictively tearing out this vital *access* road to and in front of our home.

The Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr., Presiding Judge of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, Court of Common Pleas, pursuant to our VERIFIED COMPLAINT, granted us an ORDER FOR TEMPORARY INJUNCTION (R. pp. 6-8) dated October 28, 2009, stating,

“... Further it appears South Carolina Common Law clearly recognizes those rights Plaintiffs (now Appellants) claim in and to the driveway described in the PLAT (R. p. 51 and p. 206) by which Plaintiffs took title, and that the threatened action by Defendant (now Respondent Windjammer Village POA) appears to be in degradation of Plaintiffs' vested property rights under South Carolina Law, pursuant to the following (nine) decisions (of case law). ...”

Judge Hyman's ORDER (R. p. 7) went on to state,

“... Defendant is enjoined on a temporary basis ... from in any way disturbing, uprooting, blocking or impairing Plaintiffs access in, and over the driveway shown and depicted on the PLAT by which Plaintiffs took title, without any limitation as to directional use, notwithstanding any physical posting to the contrary.”

This ORDER FOR TEMPORARY INJUNCTION (R. pp. 6-8) merely restored the rational *status quo* that had existed (a) Since the 1970's, in which the 'Paved Driveway' provided *access* both to the old Bathhouse and to the community mailboxes from either the Little River Drive or the Gamecock Circle direction, easily accommodating the slow-moving two-way mailbox traffic, as well as (b) Appellants' ability to park on our own property near our front door, which we enjoyed from the purchase of the old Bathhouse in July 2002 through June 2007.

The matter of the TEMPORARY INJUNCTION went before the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson. The Defendants' attorney, Roger Roy, argued that the motion was not yet 'ripe,' meaning that the results of the 'Mail-In Ballot' were not yet counted, so Judge Culbertson issued his ORDER (EXTENDING THE TEMPORARY INJUNCTION) (R. p. 9) dated Nov. 4, 2009, by consent of both Counsel, continuing it in full force and effect in accordance with its terms, pending an outcome of a future MERITS HEARING.

On November 17, 2009, the POA announced that the ballot measures to take out the 'Paved Driveway' and to remove Rosanne Pazoga from the Board of Directors (R. p. 58) passed, but thanks to the TEMPORARY INJUNCTION (R. pp. 6-8), the *access* road was spared.

Contempt of Court

At the POA Board Meeting on March 16, 2010, (R. pp. 76-77) the Windjammer Village POA Board of Directors, in **defiance** of Judge Hyman's (R. pp. 6-8) and then Judge Culbertson's (R. p. 9) TEMPORARY INJUNCTION, once again fined both Plaintiffs (now Appellants) Crotty and Orzech \$100 each. The Defendant POA then sent two letters (R. pp. 79-80) notifying each of us that an assessment was made against us for:

“...not accessing your property from Gamecock Circle as per the contract”

And further advising us that the amount of the fine would be due and owing within 10 days after the notice of imposition of the penalty and that if payment were not received, then our privileges (use of the pool, fishing pier, clubhouse and boat/RV trailer storage facility and attendance at meetings) would be suspended.

On March 24, 2010, attorney Lovelace filed a PETITION FOR ORDER AND RULE TO SHOW CAUSE (R. pp. 64-68) in the Court of Common Pleas, asking for a CONTEMPT-OF-COURT HEARING, citing Judge Hyman’s ORDER FOR TEMPORARY INJUNCTION (R. pp. 6-8) and Judge Culbertson’s CONSENT ORDER (R. p. 9), which read,

“... Violations of this ORDER FOR TEMPORARY INJUNCTION shall result in severe sanctions, to include civil and/or criminal contempt being imposed upon Defendant, its officers and directors. ...”

At the April 21, 2010, HEARING, Judge Hyman found Defendant Windjammer Village POA to be in CONTEMPT OF COURT, and signed an ORDER (R. pp. 10-11), dated April 28, 2010, in the Court of Common Pleas, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, to the POA’s Board of Directors to abate any fines, concluding,

“... This Court will monitor the conduct of the Defendants to ensure their compliance and, in the event of failure of strict compliance, reserve the right to impose all available sanctions within its power. ...”

From that date, April 21, 2010, through to the TRIAL ending on June 23, 2011, fourteen blessed months, we, Appellants Elizabeth Crotty and James Orzech, again fully enjoyed the use of our magnificent new home, *The BOO House*, without any fear of the constant, ferocious, debilitating and deliberate infliction of emotional suffering, imposed by the Respondent Windjammer Village POA, its Board Members and surrogates, over *access* and *parking*, thanks to Judge Hyman's TEMPORARY INJUNCTION (R. pp. 6-8).

In June 2010, Defendants' attorney, Roger Roy, filed COUNTER-CLAIMS (R. pp. 60-63) to Plaintiffs' VERIFIED COMPLAINT (R. pp. 39-43); and then in September 2010, the POA Board sacked attorney Roy, who had told the Board what they did not want to hear about Crotty's and Orzech's property rights, replacing him with attorney Moss.

The June 2011 Trial

On June 22-23, 2011, The Honorable Steven H. John, Presiding Judge, Court of Common Pleas, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, heard our (Plaintiffs') case for a PERMANENT INJUNCTION to prevent Defendant WJV POA from ever removing the *access road* in front of our home, as well as Defendants' COUNTER-CLAIMS (R. pp. 60-63).

Prior to the Court Proceeding that day, our Attorney Lovelace had not informed us, his clients, that: **(1)** It would be any more than the final MERITS HEARING that we expected, promised in Judge Culbertson's CONSENT ORDER (R. p. 9) in November 2009, as to whether or not to make Judge Hyman's TEMPORARY INJUNCTION (R. pp. 6-8) permanent; **(2)** Defendants' COUNTER-CLAIMS were anything other than arguments against that INJUNCTION; **(3)** Vital property rights to our home, involving *access* and *parking*, were being placed at risk in perpetuity at a legal proceeding that, unexpectedly for us, became a two-day TRIAL, for which neither we nor our attorney were prepared;

and worst of all, (4) *Somehow* we had gone from being Plaintiffs to being *de facto* Defendants, never having been given the opportunity to opt for a **TRIAL BY JURY**.

Judge John granted Plaintiffs Crotty and Orzech the INJUNCTION (R. p. 18 lines 20-26) that we originally sought in our Verified Complaint (R. pp. 39-43), citing that Defendant WJV POA cannot remove the *access* road known as the ‘Paved Driveway,’ as shown on the PLAT (R. p. 51 and p. 206) at the time *The B00* property was sold.

However, in response to the POA’s COUNTER-CLAIMS, Judge John forbade us from ever utilizing that very same *access road* for any reason other than mail pickup, specifically denying us the use of the *parking spots* in our own yard near the front door, forever depriving us of a critical property right, while at the same time making our new home virtually worthless in the resale market and unlivable for elderly and/or disabled persons. Indeed, Appellant Crotty, an aging, disabled Navy Veteran, already had been forced to move out of *The B00 House* in 2009, rather than having to trudge over 47 yards each way to and from the POA-approved *parking area* every time she came home – night or day, rain or shine, hot or cold – often carrying bags of groceries or other packages.

In the Judge’s SPOKEN ORDERS FROM THE BENCH (R. pp. 21-22 lines 31-32) he discounted all of the injustices we had endured at the hands of our POA, stating,

“... There is no sense in living your lives fighting and wasting your time on what in reality are ‘insignificant items.’ ...”

Then to our abject horror Judge John appointed the Defendants’ attorney to draft his FINAL ORDER, guaranteeing that Moss would twist his SPOKEN ORDERS (R. pp. 21-22) to favor his clients, just as he had done in another case involving *The B00 House* in 2004.

The 'Final Order'

On August 5, 2011, The Honorable Steven H. John issued his FINAL ORDER (R. pp. 12-19), drafted by Respondent's attorney Moss. As we anticipated, it varied significantly from his SPOKEN ORDERS FROM THE BENCH (R. pp. 21-22), strongly to our detriment. Although the Judge did affirm the INJUNCTION (R. p. 18 lines 20-26) against the Windjammer Village POA from ever removing the *access* road shown on the PLAT (R. p. 51 and p. 206), we as the current owners of *The B00 House*, our guests, service providers, contractors, heirs and assigns could never use it, despite the fact that the 'Paved Driveway' was built in the first place over thirty years prior expressly to service the old bathhouse, which we painstakingly had renovated into our dream home.

Although Windjammer Village had never recorded *access* and *parking* restrictions claimed by the POA in the TITLE (R. pp. 44-47) or the WARRANTY DEED (R. pp. 48-51), the usual law on this matter singularly did not protect *us*, as we *somehow* were deemed to be 'not-innocent purchasers.' Consequently, the Court declared that it would send a debilitating RECORDING MEMORANDUM (R. pp. 37-39) on these rulings to the Horry County Registrar of Deeds, ensuring that these restrictions would become a matter of record, thereby forever clouding our TITLE to *The B00 House*.

The photographic evidence (R. pp. 205-220) that we provided of discriminatory enforcement of *parking* practices within Windjammer Village, directed only against us, *somehow* did not rise to some vague legal standard. The Court ruled that the POA's Board had the right to make the 'Paved Driveway' one-way from the Little River Drive direction (R. pp. 106-108, but especially p. 108 lines 11-13), despite the fact that doing so

would abrogate their 2002 Sales Contract (R. pp. 97-99), which required us to *access* the property only *from* Gamecock Circle.

It also ignored the fact that the POA Board never actually acted on changing the 'Paved Driveway' to *one-way*, but rather three rogue Board members did so as retribution against Ms. Crotty for having caused Magistrate Blanton to file criminal Assault & Battery charges against the POA's Board president for having punched her in the jaw with a clenched fist -- a salient point never argued by our ill-informed attorney at TRIAL.

Additionally, the Judge stated that nothing in his FINAL ORDER spoke to Ms. Crotty's rights under the 'Americans with Disabilities Act' (R. p. 15 lines 21-28) and by inference to any other similar State or Federal statutes, such as the 'Fair Housing Act,' which she now is pursuing with the South Carolina Human Affairs Commission and the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD).

Plaintiffs' Motions for Reconsideration

Through attorney Richard M. Lovelace, Jr., we filed PLAINTIFFS' NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION PURSUANT TO RULE 59(e), SCRPC (R. pp. 81-82), dated August 12, 2011, in the Court of Common Pleas, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, to reverse: **(1)** That part of the Court's FINAL ORDER (R. pp. 18-19 para.2) barring contractors and/or service providers, even including emergency vehicles, from *accessing* our home from the 'Paved Driveway,' and to revoke **(2)** That provision in the Court's ORDER (R. p. 19 para. 4), requiring that a RECORDING MEMORANDUM (R. pp. 37-38) be filed with the Office of the Horry County Registrar of Deeds. However, attorney Lovelace declined our requests to challenge the other provisions of the FINAL ORDER, such as *access* and *parking*, but he did agree to defend us against Defendant's

MOTION FOR ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS, but not to ask for fees and costs for ourselves, although we, too, had partially prevailed at TRIAL with the INJUNCTION.

On February 13, 2012, a MOTIONS HEARING PURSUANT TO RULE 59(e), SCRCP, was held before the Honorable Steven H. John, presiding Judge, Court of Common Pleas, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, for Civil Action #2009-CP-26-10523. The Court filed its ORDER UPON PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION (R. pp. 23-26), dated February 27, 2012, in which it ruled that:

1. "Nothing in the Court's FINAL ORDER (R. pp. 12-19) dated August 3, 2011, shall be construed in any way to limit, impede, or interfere with emergency or public safety providers such as Police, Fire, or Emergency Medical Services from providing services to Plaintiffs in the manner deemed appropriate by those providers."
2. "... The Court clarifies that its prior Order shall in no way restrict or impede the ability of service providers companies to access the Plaintiffs' property. ,,,."
3. The FINAL ORDER properly restricts Plaintiffs and the Plaintiffs' visitors, guests, and invitees from *accessing* the Plaintiffs' property via the 'Paved Driveway.'
4. "... The Court finds that the recording of a MEMORANDUM in the Office of the Registrar of Deeds makes it more likely that the Court's FINAL ORDER will be found by innocent third parties such as purchasers ..."

Further, the Court issued another ORDER DENYING DEFENDANT'S REQUEST FOR ATTORNEY FEES BUT ALLOWING DEFENDANT TO RECOVER ITS COSTS (of \$1,934.24), also filed on February 27, 2012. Once these ORDERS were delivered, our retention of Richard M. Lovelace, Jr. as our attorney was terminated.

Unexpected Motions Hearing of August 2012

The Court scheduled a HEARING in the above case for August 30, 2012. The purpose of this HEARING was to determine whether or not Defendant's MOTION FOR AN ORDER AND RULE TO SHOW CAUSE for Plaintiffs' failure to comply with the Court's ORDER DENYING DEFENDANT'S REQUEST FOR ATTORNEY FEES BUT ALLOWING DEFENDANT TO RECOVER ITS COSTS, filed February 27, 2012. Defendant Windjammer Village POA also wanted to be awarded *even more* COSTS (\$3,168.24 more), pursuant to Rule 54(e). On August 6, 2012, *Pro Se* Plaintiffs Elizabeth Crotty and James Orzech submitted our PLAINTIFFS' MEMORANDUM IN OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT'S PROPOSED ORDER AWARDING DEFENDANT EVEN MORE TAXABLE COSTS PURSUANT TO RULE 54(e) SCRPC, arguing that Defendant's claims for additional COSTS were questionable, discrepancy-ridden and possibly fictitious. We also had expected some documentation, such as receipts, for the supposed COSTS we were being asked to pay, which attorney Moss never could find a way to produce.

Then on August 23, 2012, we forwarded RE: AUGUST 30TH RULE TO SHOW CAUSE HEARING: PLAINTIFFS' MEMORANDUM REQUESTING THAT THE COURT RE-VISIT THE FINAL ORDER IN THE NAME OF JUSTICE (R. pp. 83-96 with Attachments A through F pp. 97-108) to the Court, stating,

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