THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Steven H. John, Presiding Judge

---

Case No. 2009-CP-26-10523

**Appellate Case No. 2012-213287**

---

Elizabeth A. Crotty and James K. Orzech ..... *Appellants,*

v.

Windjammer Village of Little River, South Carolina,  
Property Owners' Association, a South Carolina  
Eleemosynary Corporation ..... *Respondent.*

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**WRIGHT, WORLEY, POPE,  
EKSTER & MOSS, PLLC**  
Kenneth R. Moss, SC Bar # 15520  
628A Sea Mountain Highway  
North Myrtle Beach, SC 29582  
Tel: (843) 281-9901

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

### **III. ARGUMENT**

- A. The Appellants have failed to comply with the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules by including redundant, immaterial, impertinent, irrelevant, inadmissible, and scandalous material in their Final Brief (Rev. April 2014) and designated matter in the Record on Appeal (Rev. April 2014), and raising matters not argued to the trial court.**

The Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal on October 18, 2012 against the trial court's Rule 60(b) Order, and filed their Initial Brief and Designation of Matter on March 13, 2013. The Respondent filed a Motion on April 29, 2013 to Dismiss and/or Strike inappropriate content from the Appellants' Initial Brief and Designation of Matter, to which the Appellants filed a Return on May 9, 2013.

In their May 9, 2013 Return, the Appellants argued that there were four (4) "Propositions" relevant to their Appeal:

1. That the trial court erred in June 2011 when interpreting a contract between the parties;
2. That the trial court erred in August 2012 by rejecting "new evidence" sought to be introduced by the Appellants;

3. That the Court of Appeals should grant a new trial because of ineffective representation of counsel for the Appellants; and
4. That the Order signed by the trial court judge did not accurately reflect oral statements made by the judge in open court.

The recitations of “Facts” set forth by the Appellants in their Final Brief (Rev. April 2014) (R. pp. 17–27), to the extent that each one of those “Facts” has not been proven by evidence admitted at the trial below between the parties, constitute matters that are improperly included, to which the Respondent maintains objection before this Court.

While the Respondent’s April 29, 2013 Motion to Dismiss and/or Strike was pending determination before this Court, the Appellants filed a Motion to Amend and Replace Appellants’ Designation of Matter to be Included in the Record on Appeal. On July 2, 2013 this Court in part granted Respondent’s Motion by striking pages 1, 2, and part of page 3 of the Appellants’ Initial Brief, and ordered the Appellants to file an *Amended Brief* within ten days with a more concise STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL. However, this Court also by the same Order granted the Appellants’ Motion to Amend their Designation of Matter. The Respondent filed and served a Motion to Strike Matters included in the Appellants’ *Amended* Designation of Matter on July 8, 2013.

On July 12, 2013, the Appellants filed their *Amended* Designation of Matter and *Amended* Initial Brief. The *Amended* Initial Brief revised the pages stricken by the Court; however, the Appellants also took the liberty of making significant revisions to the remainder of their Initial Brief that were not specified in or authorized by the

Court's Order of July 2, 2013. Matters not previously asserted in Appellants' *Amended* Initial Brief of March 13, 2013 were included in their *Amended* Initial Brief.

The *Amended* Initial Brief states as Appellants' Issues on Appeal the four "Propositions" set forth in their Return of May 9, 2013 as paraphrased above. Those stated Issues are not proper in any appeal against the trial court's Rule 60(b) Order. Material claimed by the Appellants to relate to those Issues is redundant, immaterial, impertinent, inadmissible, and scandalous in this Appeal, and the Respondent re-asserts that the Appellants have therefore violated Rule 208(b)–(c), Rules 208(b)(1)(A) and 208(b)(1)(C)–(E), Rule 209(b)(6), Rule 210(c), Rule 268(d)(2), and Rule 269, *SCACR*.

1. The Appellants' first Issue on Appeal relates to the interpretation of a contract that was the subject of a two-day bench trial in the Court of Common Pleas on June 22–23, 2011. The trial court signed and issued its written Final Order (Ending Action) on August 3, 2011; the Defendant filed the Order with the clerk of court and served a copy upon counsel for the Plaintiffs on August 5, 2011. (R. pp. 12–19; R. p. 20.) Thereafter, the Plaintiffs' timely filed a motion for reconsideration pursuant to Rule 59(e), *SCRCP*; after some delay the trial court heard oral argument on that motion on February 13, 2012. In its written Order Upon Plaintiffs' Motion for Reconsideration Pursuant to Rule 59(e), *SCRCP* (hereinafter referred to as the "Rule 59(e) Order"), the trial court partially clarified its Final Order dated August 3, 2011. (R. p. 12–19; R. p. 20.) The Rule 59(e) Order was signed and issued by the trial court

on February 22, 2012, and filed with the clerk of court and served upon counsel for the Plaintiffs on February 27, 2012. (R. pp. 21–24.)

However, the Appellants did not timely appeal against the Final Order signed and issued on August 3, 2011, and filed with the clerk of court and served on Plaintiffs' counsel on August 5, 2011. The Appellants did not file a Motion or Appeal within the one-year time limit set forth pursuant to Rule 60(b), *SCRCP*. At the August 30, 2012 hearing, in addressing the Appellants' Rule 60(b) Motion dated August 23, 2012, the trial court noted:

[I]t is dated – and certainly the Court could not have received it, and did not receive it before August 23rd, 2012. That is more than one year after the signing and filing of the Order, therefore, the Motion under Newly Discovered Evidence is not proper, and cannot be heard by the Court.

(R. p. 117, lines 5–10; R. pp. 29–30.)

Therefore, the Final Order signed and issued August 3, 2011 (R. pp. 12–19), and filed with the clerk of court and served upon Plaintiffs' counsel on August 5, 2011 (R. p. 20), as clarified on February 22, 2012 (R. pp. 21–24), became the law of the case since there was no appeal, as the trial court ruled on August 30, 2012. (R. p. 31; R. p. 127, lines 9–14.) The trial court's oral ruling was reduced to writing and signed and issued by the trial court on September 14, 2012, and filed with the clerk of court on September 18, 2012. (R. pp. 25–31.) Any argument regarding the interpretation of a contract litigated on June 22–23, 2011 is improper in this Appeal.

2. The Appellants next allege error in the trial court's rejection of their "new evidence" argued to the trial court on August 30, 2012. The trial court reviewed all the material submitted, and found as fact that the matters alleged as "new evidence" existed and could have been discovered by due diligence prior to the trial of the underlying action in June 2011. (R. p. 117, lines 11–18; R. p. 120, line 9 – p. 121, line 1.) The trial court also found as fact that the material was known to exist by the Appellants prior to February 2012 when their Rule 59(e) motion was argued. (R. p. 126, lines 13–24.) Therefore, the trial court correctly found that the material did not fall within the definition of "newly discovered evidence" as set forth in Rule 60(b)(2), *SCRPC*. (R. p. 30; R. p. 116, lines 14–21; R. p. 117, lines 5–18.) The attempted inclusion of material rejected by the trial court in the Appellants' designated matter for the Record on Appeal (Rev. April 2014) and Appellants' Final Brief (Rev. April 2014) is improper and represents irrelevant material.

*Narruhn v. Alea London Ltd.*, 404 S.C. 337, 340, 745 S.E.2d 90, 91 (2013) ("Motions under Rule 60(b)(1), (2), or (3) must be made within a reasonable time, but not later than one year of the order taken."), *reh'g denied* (July 25, 2013); *Perry v. Heirs at Law of Gadsden*, 357 S.C. 42, 46, 590 S.E.2d 502, 504 (Ct. App. 2003) ("A party seeking to set aside a judgment pursuant to Rule 60(b) has the burden of presenting evidence entitling him to the requested relief.").

The trial court in the present case found that the Appellants had filed what could be construed as a motion on August 23, 2012 seeking reversal of the Final Order dated August 3, 2011, and filed and served on August 5, 2011, and, therefore, were out of

time. As stated above, the trial court also found that the Appellants knew of the grounds on which they sought to overturn the Final Order within the one year time limit set forth by Rule 60(b).

However, the present appeal is not against the underlying decision contained in the Final Order; it is an appeal against the denial of the Rule 60(b)(2) Motion considered by the trial court on August 30, 2012. As such, the Appellants' Final Brief (Rev. April 2014) and Appellants' designated matter in the Record on Appeal (Rev. April 2014) contain irrelevant and inadmissible material. The Appellants' Final Brief (Rev. April 2014) also contains unproven allegations and assertions from a separate pending civil action filed by both Appellants (Civil Action No. 2010-CP-26-05929), as well as a separate pending civil action of (Civil Action No. 2013-CP-26-05908) containing unproven allegations of complaints made by Appellant Crotty to State and Federal agencies. Neither of these civil actions are a part of the record in the present case, and were not presented to the trial court through admissible evidence at any hearing in the underlying matter. These pending actions are also irrelevant and inadmissible in the Record on Appeal in this case.

The trial court ruled that:

In this action, the Court issued its Final Order on August 3, 2011. Inasmuch as the Plaintiffs' Memorandum requesting the Court Re-Visit the Final Order in the Name of Justice was dated August 23, 2012, and not actually filed with the Clerk of Court, the Plaintiffs' Memorandum was not and could not have been received by the Court until after one (1) year

had elapsed. Accordingly, under Rule 60(b), *SCRCP*, it would not be proper for the Court to entertain the Plaintiffs' request, even if it were in fact a motion.

(R. pp. 29–30.)

In *Ballard v. Carlson*, 882 F.2d 93, 96 (4th Cir. 1989), the court noted:

Pro se litigants are entitled to some deference from courts. See, e.g., *Haines v. Kerner*, 404 U.S. 519, 92 S. Ct. 594, 30 L. Ed. 2d 652 (1972). But they as well as other litigants are subject to the time requirements and respect for court orders without which effective judicial administration would be impossible.

In the present matter, the trial court showed extreme deference to the *pro se* Plaintiffs. There are no procedural grounds on which the Court of Appeals may overturn the trial court's ruling on this issue.

3. Ineffective representation of counsel is not a ground for appeal in a civil case. The Sixth Amendment right to counsel applies only in criminal cases. *E.g.*, *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). Any reference to allegedly ineffective representation at the trial level by Appellants' counsel (in which allegation the Respondent does not join) is irrelevant and immaterial to the issues in this case.

4. While the Respondent does not concede that the oral ruling by the trial court was not expressed in the Final Order or the Rule 60(b) Order, a trial court has discretion to change its mind and amend its oral ruling. *Ford v. State Ethics Comm'n*, 344 S.C. 642, 646, 545 S.E.2d 821, 823 (2001) (“Until written and entered, the trial judge retains discretion to change his mind and amend his oral ruling accordingly.”);

*Case v. Case*, 243 S.C. 447, 451, 134 S.E.2d 394, 396 (1964) (“The [Order] must be in writing and until such time the Judge may modify, amend or rescind such an oral Order.”); *First Union Nat’l Bank v. Hitman, Inc.*, 306 S.C. 327, 329, 411 S.E.2d 681, 682 (Ct. App. 1991) (“Until written and entered, the trial judge retains discretion to change his mind and amend his oral ruling accordingly.”), *aff’d*, 308 S.C. 421, 418 S.E.2d 545 (1992).

The written order is the trial judge’s final order and as such constitutes the final judgment of the court. The final written order contains the binding instructions which are to be followed by the parties. *See* Rule 58, *SCRCP*.

The allegations contained in the Appellants’ Final Brief (*e.g.*, pp. 8 and 44) that Respondent’s counsel and Judge John committed ethical breaches in their conduct of the case represents impertinent and scandalous material that is inappropriate in this Appeal.

**B. The Appellants are time-barred from appealing against the merits of the trial court’s Final Order dated August 3, 2011.**

The Appellants are attempting in this Appeal to have the Court of Appeals retry the underlying merits of the case litigated on June 22–23, 2011 that resulted in a written Final Order dated August 3, 2011, and filed and served on the Appellants on August 5, 2011. (R. pp. 12–19; R. p. 20.)

The Appellants’ Final Brief (Rev. April 2014) and Appellants’ designated matter in the Record on Appeal (Rev. April 2014) is crafted and intended to be an appeal on

the merits of the trial court's 2011 Final Order, not the trial court's Rule 60(b) Order.

By Appellants' own pleading, their intentions behind filing this appeal are:

- “On October 18, 2012, we, now as *Pro Se* Appellants, served a NOTICE OF INTENT TO APPEAL (R. pp. 106 and 109) the Trial Court's ORDER UPON PLAINTIFFS' MEMORANDUM REQUESTING THAT THE COURT RE-VISIT THE FINAL ORDER IN THE NAME OF JUSTICE (*Court accepted as a Rule 60(b), SCRCP Motion*) (R. pp. 25–31) stamped September 18, 2012, and by direct inference, the Final Order (R. p. 12–19), itself.” (Appellants' Final Brief (Rev. April 2014), p. 13, ¶ 1);
- “That choice of words [“access from” and “entrance”] results in vastly different interpretations of where we can and cannot *park* – the central issue for making this appeal.” (Emphasis in original.) (Appellants' Final Brief (Rev. April 2014), p. 22, ¶ 2);
- “Are there any minimum standards to be met in South Carolina before the Trial process fails before the Law, because of ineffective representation? Does it even matter? That is what we are asking the Appeals Court to decide, and if those standards have not been met, to strike down the Trial Judge's FINAL ORDER (R. pp. 12–19), except for the INJUNCTION, while at the same time making Judge Hyman's TEMPORARY INJUNCTION (R. pp. 6–8) – in its entirety – permanent. . . .” (Emphasis in original.) (Appellants' Final Brief (Rev. April 2014), p. 41, ¶ 3);
- “We submit that The Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr., . . . got it exactly right when he granted us an ORDER FOR TEMPORARY INJUNCTION on October 28, 2009. . . .” (Appellants' Final Brief (Rev. April 2014), p. 49, ¶ 2);

- “We therefore request that the South Carolina Court of Appeals:

- (1) Strike down the FINAL ORDER<sup>1</sup> (Ending Action) (R. pp. 12–19) by the Honorable Steven John, except for the PERMANENT INJUNCTION against the removal of the ‘Paved Driveway,’ . . . and instead,
- (2) Grant PERMANENT STATUS to the ORDER FOR TEMPORARY INJUNCTION (R. pp. 6–8), dated October 28, 2009; and,
- (3) Cause the RECORDING MEMORANDUM (R. pp. 35–36), dated May 15, 2012 and filed with the Office of the Registrar of Deeds for Horry County, to be removed; and
- (4) Order that the COSTS, amounting to \$1,933.24 that we paid to Respondent’s attorney in November 2012 (R. pp. 32–34), be returned to us.”

(Appellants’ Final Brief (Rev. April 2014), p. 50.)

As ruled by this Court in *McCall v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 359 S.C.

372, 377–78, 597 S.E.2d 181, 184 (Ct. App. 2004):

An unappealed order becomes the law of the case. *Toler’s Cove Homeowners Ass’n v. Trident Const. Co., Inc.*, 355 S.C. 605, 610, 586 S.E.2d 581, 584 (2003); *Charleston Lumber Co. v. Miller Housing Corp.*, 338 S.C. 171, 174–75, 525 S.E.2d 869, 871 (2000); *Priester v. Brabham*, 230 S.C. 201, 203, 95 S.E.2d 167, 168 (1956); *Wooten v. Wooten*, 354 S.C. 242, 250, 580 S.E.2d 765, 769 (Ct. App. 2003); *Larimore v. Carolina Power & Light*, 340 S.C. 438, 445, 531 S.E.2d 535, 538–39 (Ct. App. 2000). “A portion of a judgment that is not appealed presents no issue for determination by the reviewing court and constitutes, rightly or wrongly, the

---

<sup>1</sup> This is not the Order against which the Appeal has been made.

law of the case.” *Austin v. Specialty Transp. Servs.*, 358 S.C. 298, 320, 594 S.E.2d 867, 878 (Ct. App. 2004).

In *Lindsay v. Lindsay*, 328 S.C. 329, 338, 491 S.E.2d 583, 588 (Ct. App. 1997), this Court relied upon two South Carolina Supreme Court cases, which are applicable to the present Appeal:

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